# **Barley Starch**

### Molecular Structure and Properties

### Anna Källman

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Food Science Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2013 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2013:73

Cover: Barley ears at 24 days after flowering. (photo: Anna Källman)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-7884-3 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-7885-0 © 2013 Anna Källman, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2013

#### Barley Starch. Molecular Structure and Properties

#### Abstract

This thesis examined barley amylopectin structure and looked for correlations between the structure and physical properties of starch. The structure of amylopectin and gelatinisation and retrogradation of starch were studied in 10 different barley cultivars/breeding lines with differing genetic background.

Amylopectin is built up of thousands of chains of glucose monomers, organised into clusters. The detailed fine structure of amylopectin was studied by isolating clusters of amylopectin and their building blocks, which are the tightly branched units building up the clusters. Barley cultivars/breeding lines possessing the *amo1* mutation had fewer long chains of DP $\geq$ 38 in amylopectin and more large building blocks. The structure of building blocks was rather conserved between the different barley cultivars/breeding lines studied and was categorized into different size groups. These different building blocks were shown to be randomly distributed in the amylopectin molecule. The C-chains in amylopectin can be of any length and are a category of chains different from the B-chains. The backbone in amylopectin consists of a special type of B-chains which, when cleaved by  $\alpha$ -amylase, become chains of a similar type to C-chains.

Gelatinisation and retrogradation (recrystallisation of gelatinised starch) of barley starch was studied by differential scanning calorimetry. The *amo1* mutation resulted in a broader gelatinisation temperature range and a higher enthalpy of retrogradation. Other structural features were also found to influence the physical properties of starch. Small clusters and denser structure of the building blocks resulted in higher gelatinisation temperature. Fast retrogradation was observed in barley which had amylopectin with shorter chains and many large building blocks consisting of many chains.

Amylopectin structure was also studied in developing barley kernels. Three barley cultivars/breeding lines were grown in a phytotron and kernels were harvested at 9, 12 and 24 days after flowering. The results showed that amylopectin synthesized at later stages of development had a more tightly branched structure. Expression of the enzymes involved in starch biosynthesis is also known to change during endosperm development.

*Keywords:* barley, starch, amylopectin fine structure, clusters, building blocks, C-chain, gelatinisation, retrogradation

*Author's address:* Anna Källman, SLU, Department of Food Science, P.O. Box 7051, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Anna.Källman@ slu.se

# Dedication

Till min älskade underbara familj

The journey of a thousand miles begins with one step. Lao Tzu

# Contents

List	of Publications	7
Abbi	reviations	9
1	Introduction	11
1.1	Starch in general	11
1.2	Starch granules	12
1.3	Amylopectin structure	13
	1.3.1 Internal structure of amylopectin	15
1.4	Starch biosynthesis	16
1.5	Physical properties	17
2	Aims	19
3	Materials and methods	21
3.1	Barley cultivars/breeding lines	21
3.2	Isolating barley starch	22
3.3	Amylose content	25
3.4	Production of domains, clusters and building blocks	25
3.5	Labeling with 2-aminopyridine	27
3.6	Chain length size distribution	27
3.7	Physical properties	27
3.8	Statistical methods	28
4	Results and discussion	29
4.1	Amylopectin structure	31
	4.1.1 Building block structure	32
	4.1.2 C- and bc-chain size distribution	33
	4.1.3 Bbl at the reducing end	36
	4.1.4 Cluster interconnection	37
4.2	Influence of amylopectin structure on physical properties	37
4.3	Starch structure in developing barley endosperm	40
5	Conclusions	45
6	Future research	47

#### References

### Acknowledgements

55

# List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Bertoft, E., Källman, A., Koch, K., Andersson, R., Åman, P. (2011). The cluster structure of barley amylopectins of different genetic backgrounds. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 49(4), 441-453.
- II Bertoft, E., Källman, A., Koch, K., Andersson, R., Åman, P. (2011). The building block structure of barley amylopectin. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 49(5), 900-909.
- III Källman, A., Bertoft, E., Koch, K., Åman, P., Andersson, R. (2013). On the interconnection of clusters and building blocks in barley amylopectin. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 55, 75-82.
- IV Källman, A., Vamadevan, V., Bertoft, E., Koch, K., Seetharaman, K., Åman, P., Andersson, R. Starch structure, gelatinization and retrogradation properties in barley samples with a high variation in carbohydrate composition (manuscript).
- V Källman, A., Sun, C., Koch, K., Åman, P., Andersson, R. Starch structure in developing barley endosperm (manuscript).

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Anna Källman to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Carried out experimental work and participated in evaluation of the results and in writing the manuscript.
- II Carried out experimental work and participated in evaluation of the results and in writing the manuscript.
- III Participated in planning the experimental work and in evaluation of results. Was responsible for the analytical work and for writing the manuscript.
- IV Participated in planning the experimental work and in evaluation of the results. Was responsible for the majority of the analytical work and for writing the manuscript.
- V Participated in planning the experimental work and in evaluation of the results. Was responsible for the analytical work and for writing the manuscript.

# Abbreviations

2-AP	2-aminopyridine
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
a <sub>w</sub>	Water activity
Bbl	Building block
CL	Average chain length
DAF	Days after flowering
DP	Degree of polymerization
DSC	Differential scanning calorimetry
ECL	External chain length
GBSS	Granule-bound starch synthase
GLM	General linear model
GPC	Gel permeation chromatography
HPAEC-PAD	High performance anion exchange chromatography with
	pulsed amperometric detection
HPSEC	High performance size exclusion chromatography
ICL	Internal chain length
IC-S	Inter cluster segment
PLS	Partial least squares
RVA	Rapid visco analyzer
SBE	Starch branching enzyme
SS	Starch synthase
TICL	Total internal chain length
WAXS	Wide angle X-ray diffraction

## 1 Introduction

Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) is one of the most widely grown crops in Sweden (FAOSTAT, 2013) and is mostly used as animal feed and in malting and brewing (FAO, 2009). Only a small proportion is used as food, although barley has good nutritional values due to its high content of dietary fibre, especially  $\beta$ -glucan.

Starch is a cheap raw material and is widely used in industry, both in its native form and modified in different ways to fit industrial needs. Starch consists of the two polymers amylose and amylopectin. The properties of starch are influenced both by the ratio of these two molecules and by the structure of the amylopectin. Detailed knowledge of amylopectin structure is important in order to understand the biosynthesis of starch and, in the longer view, to genetically customize starch with specific properties. Diploid barley has few and large chromosomes and a high degree of self-fertility and is easy to hybridize. Therefore, barley is a good model plant for cereal genetics.

### 1.1 Starch in general

Starch is used in plants as an energy store and is synthesized in the amyloplasts in the form of granules. In barley, starch is the main component and constitutes ~60% of the grain (Åman & Newman, 1986; Oscarsson *et al.*, 1998). The molecules of the main components in starch, the polysaccharides amylose and amylopectin, are built up from a number of glucose monomers, but their structure differs tremendously. Amylose is basically a linear molecule with a molecular weight of  $10^5$ - $10^6$  Da, while amylopectin is a much larger, highly branched polymer with a molecular weight of  $10^7$ - $10^9$  Da, in which thousands of chains of glucose are connected to each other through their reducing end (Buléon *et al.*, 1998). Normal barley starch generally has an amylose content of 25-30%, although waxy types can have 0% amylase and high amylose varieties more than 40% (Morrison, Milligan & Azudin, 1984). A transgenic barley was recently shown to contain 0% amylopectin (Carciofi *et al.*, 2012).

### 1.2 Starch granules

Two types of granules exist in barley starch; large lenticular A-granules and small spherical B-granules (Burton *et al.*, 2002; McDonald *et al.*, 1991; Meritt & Walker, 1968; Schulman *et al.*, 1994). The mean diameter is  $\sim$ 3 µm for the B-granules and  $\sim$ 10-13 µm for the A-granules (McDonald *et al.*, 1991; Morrison, Scott & Karkalas, 1986; Schulman *et al.*, 1994). A-granules constitute the majority (more than 90%) of starch by weight (McDonald *et al.*, 1991) but less than 20% by number (Morrison, Scott & Karkalas, 1986, McDonald *et al.*, 1991).

Barley A- and B-granules differ in terms of both amylopectin content and structure (Ao & Jane, 2007; Bathgate & Palmer, 1972; McDonald *et al.*, 1991; Takeda *et al.*, 1999; Tang, Watanabe & Mitsunaga, 2002). The amylose content is higher and the average chain length of amylopectin (CL) is longer in A-granules than in B-granules (Ao & Jane, 2007; McDonald *et al.*, 1991; Takeda *et al.*, 1999; Tang, Watanabe & Mitsunaga 2002). Furthermore, A-granules gelatinize at a lower temperature than B-granules (Ao & Jane, 2007; Bathgate & Palmer, 1972; Tang, Watanabe & Mitsunaga, 2002).

Starch granules are built up of blocklets forming alternating amorphous and semi-crystalline growth rings, as depicted schematically in Figure 1 (Gallant, Bouchet & Baldwin, 1997; Tang, Mitsunaga & Kawamura, 2006). These semicrystalline growth rings consist of alternating crystalline and amorphous lamellae (Buttrose, 1960; Gallant, Bouchet & Baldwin 1997; Yamaguchi, Kainuma & French, 1979) with a 9 nm repeat distance (Jenkins, Cameron & Donald, 1993). The external chain segments of amylopectin, *i.e.* the part of the chains from their outermost branch point to the non-reducing end, form double helices that build up the crystalline lamellae, whereas the internal part of the molecule, containing the branch points of the chains, exist in the amorphous lamellae (Waigh et al., 2000). Depending on the organization of the double helices in the granules, three types of X-ray diffraction patterns appear, which classify starch into A-, B- or C-type (Buléon et al., 1998; Imberty et al., 1991). Cereal starch generally shows an A-type pattern, while the B-type pattern is found in root and tuber starch (Buléon et al., 1998). The C-type pattern is found in legume starch and is a mixture of A- and B-type crystallites. The crystals in B-type starch are less densely packed than those in A-type starch, and the B-type starch contains more water (Imberty et al., 1991). A V-type pattern also exists in starch and comprises crystalline amylose inclusion complexes (Buléon *et al.*, 1991).

It is still not clear where amylose is located in the granule, although it is suggested to be associated with the amylopectin chains (Vasanthan & Hoover, 1992; Jane & Shen, 1993; Jenkins & Donald, 1995; Kasemsuwan & Jane, 1994). Amylose has been suggested to be more concentrated at the periphery of the granules (Jane & Shen, 1993; Morrison & Gadan, 1987) as well as at the centre (Blennow *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of starch granule architecture.

### 1.3 Amylopectin structure

The amylopectin molecule is built up of thousands of chains of 1,4-linked  $\alpha$ -Dglucose residues connected to each other by 1,6-linkages. There are three types of glucose chains in amylopectin, namely A- B- and C-chains (Peat, Whelan & Thomas, 1952). The first category, A-chains, carry no other chains, whilst Bchains can carry both A-chains and other B-chains. The C-chain is the only chain with a free reducing end and thus there is only one C-chain per amylopectin molecule and it carries all the other chains. Debranching of amylopectin with the enzymes isoamylase and pullulanase, which cleave the 1,6-linkages, reveals the chain length distribution (Figure 2a), which is an important characteristic of amylopectin structure. Barley amylopectin has a chain length distribution with a peak at a degree of polymerization (DP) of 12, a distinct shoulder at DP 18-21, and a few long chains of DP>37. Chains of DP 6-8 in amylopectin have been shown to possess typical profiles depending on crop and are probably A-chains, so they are generally called fingerprint A-chains (A<sub>fp</sub>-chains) (Bertoft, 2004).



*Figure 2.* Chain length distribution of (a) barley amylopectin and (b) its  $\varphi,\beta$ -limit dextrin. Only the size distribution of B-chains is shown in (b).

The chains in amylopectin are organized into clusters and it is generally believed that short chains of up to DP ~35 constitute the cluster, while the longer chains of DP>35 interconnect them (Hizukuri, 1986). A cluster has been defined as a group of chains in which the internal chain length (ICL), *i.e.* the distance between branch points, is shorter than nine glucosyl residues (Bertoft, 2007b). This definition is based on the action pattern of  $\alpha$ -amylase from *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens*, which has an active site that binds glucans with DP 9 (Bird & Hopkins, 1954). The size of the clusters and the number of chains they contain differ between crops (Bertoft, 2007a; Bertoft *et al.*, 2011; Kong, Corke & Bertoft, 2009; Laohaphatanaleart *et al.*, 2010; Zhu *et al.*, 2011). In each cluster there are tightly branched units, referred to as building blocks, with an ICL of ~1-2 residues (Bertoft, Koch & Åman, 2012b). The smallest

blocks consist of only two chains and larger blocks contain an average of ~10-12 chains.

The exact mode of cluster interconnection is not known, however, and different alternative models currently exist (Figure 3). In the classical cluster model (Hizukuri, 1986), the chains are organized into clusters placed sequentially in one direction. This model is simply based on the periodicity of chain lengths. In an alternative model, the clusters, in the form of assemblies of building blocks, are oriented perpendicular to a backbone, which consists of long chains interconnecting the clusters (Bertoft, 2004).



*Figure 3.* (a) The classical cluster model by Hizukuri, where clusters are organized in one direction, and (b) the two-directional backbone model, where clusters are oriented perpendicular to the backbone (thick lines).

#### 1.3.1 Internal structure of amylopectin

The internal structure of amylopectin can be studied by degradation of the molecule with exo-acting enzymes, either both phosphorylase *a* and  $\beta$ -amylase or  $\beta$ -amylase alone, which leave all branch points intact and the external chains shortened to a great extent. Subsequent debranching reveals the internal chain length distribution of amylopectin (Figure 2b). Amylopectin internal structure has been shown to differ between crops (Bertoft *et al.*, 2008). Barley typically has an internal chain length distribution with a peak at DP 10 and a shoulder at

DP ~30. The shortest B-chains of DP 3-7, are called fingerprint B-chains ( $B_{\rm fp}$ -chains), since they have been shown to have different profiles between crops (Bertoft, 2004; Bertoft *et al.*, 2008).

Degradation by  $\beta$ -amylase alone results in a  $\beta$ -limit dextrin, in which the Achains are degraded into maltosyl or maltotriosyl stubs and the shortest possible B-chain has DP 3 (Bertoft, 2004). If amylopectin is successively degraded by phosphorylase a and  $\beta$ -amylase, resulting in a  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrin, all A-chains are degraded into maltosyl stubs (Bertoft, 2004). This is because phosphorylase a degrades all A-chains into stubs with DP 4 (Walker & Whelan, 1960) and the subsequent treatment with  $\beta$ -amylase further degrades the A-chains into maltose (Bertoft, 2004). B-chains are also degraded by these enzymes and the shortest possible B-chain obtained has only one glucose residue outside the branching point, which results in a chain length of DP 3 (Bertoft, 1989), because the shortest internal chain length is DP 1 (Kainuma & French, 1969). Debranching of a  $\varphi_{\beta}$ -limit dextrin reveals the internal chain length of amylopectin and, since all A-chains appear as a maltose peak and the shortest B-chain as maltotriose, the ratio of A:B chains can be determined (Bertoft, 2004). The B-chain fraction actually consists of a mixture of B and Cchains, but the number of C-chains is negligible since there is only one C-chain per molecule. Hanashiro & Takeda (1998) have developed a method for labelling the reducing end of amylopectin, *i.e.* the C-chain, providing the possibility to distinguish C-chains from the other chains.

#### 1.4 Starch biosynthesis

Starch granules grow by apposition (Badenhuizen & Dutton, 1956; Buttrose, 1960) and the amylose content increases during endosperm development (Banks, Greenwood & Muir, 1973; Fast Seefeldt *et al.*, 2009; McDonald *et al.*, 1991). Starch accumulates in the endosperm from 6 days after flowering (DAF) (Radchuk *et al.*, 2009; Weschke *et al.*, 2000) up to ~20-40 DAF, depending on growing conditions, after which its concentration remains constant (Banks, Greenwood & Muir, 1973; Fast Seefeldt *et al.*, 2009; McDonald *et al.*, 2009; McDonald *et al.*, 2009; McDonald *et al.*, 1991; Weschke *et al.*, 2000). The A-granules are initiated at 5-10 DAF (Burton *et al.*, 2002; Merritt & Walker, 1969), while the initiation of B-granules occurs at a later stage of granule development (Burton *et al.*, 2002; MacGregor, LaBerge & Meredith, 1971; Merritt & Walker, 1969; Wei *et al.*, 2008; Williams & Duffus, 1977).

A number of enzymes are involved in the biosynthesis of starch, namely granule-bound starch synthase (GBSS), multiple forms of starch synthases (SS: SSI, SSIIa and b, SSIII and SSIV), and starch branching enzymes (SBE: SBEI

and SBEII) (Tetlow, 2011). GBSS is responsible for the synthesis of amylose, while the SSs and SBEs are involved in amylopectin synthesis. The different enzymes are primarily responsible for synthesizing different chain categories. The expression of enzymes involved in barley starch synthesis changes during development (Radchuk *et al.*, 2009; Sreenivasulu *et al.*, 2004).

### 1.5 Physical properties

The pasting profile of starch can be obtained using a Rapid Visco-Analyzer (RVA), which measures the viscosity of a sample during heating and cooling. When starch is heated in excess water, the granules absorb water and amylose leaches out from the granules, which start to swell and lose their molecular order (Eliasson & Gudmundsson, 2006). This endothermic process is called gelatinization. Melting of the crystallites can be studied by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC). When gelatinized starch is cooled, amylose and amylopectin recrystallize, a process known as retrogradation.

The amylose/amylopectin ratio influences physical properties such as gelatinization temperature (Fredriksson *et al.*, 1998) and retrogradation (Fredriksson *et al.*, 1998; Jane *et al.*, 1999; Zhu *et al.*, 2010). Amylopectin fine structure also affects gelatinization properties (Bao *et al.*, 2009; Jane *et al.*, 1999; Kim & Huber, 2010; Kong *et al.*, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2010; Vamadevan, Seetharaman & Bertoft, 2013; Zhu, Corke & Bertoft, 2011).

A higher proportion of short chains of DP 6-12 is correlated with lower gelatinization temperature (Bao *et al.*, 2009; Kong *et al.*, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2010; Zhu, Corke & Bertoft, 2011) and enthalpy (Kong *et al.*, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2010). A higher proportion of chains of DP 13-24 is correlated with higher gelatinization temperature (Bao *et al.*, 2009; Kong *et al.*, 2008; Zhu, Corke & Bertoft, 2011). These short chains probably cause defects in the crystallites, resulting in their melting at a lower temperature (Genkina *et al.*, 2007; Zhu, Corke & Bertoft, 2011).

# 2 Aims

The overall aim of this thesis was to obtain more information on the fine structure of amylopectin. Detailed knowledge of amylopectin structure is important in order to understand the biosynthesis of starch, as well as the relationship between structure and properties. The molecular structure of starch affects its properties, but it is not known how the organization of chains into clusters or the composition of building blocks affect a certain property, or how the structure is controlled by biosynthesis.

The specific aims of the work were to:

- Characterize the structure and composition of clusters in domains of barley amylopectin (Papers I-IV).
- Characterize the structure and composition of building blocks in domains and clusters of barley amylopectin (Papers II and IV).
- Investigate how building blocks and clusters are interconnected in barley amylopectin (Paper III).
- Study amylopectin structure and its physical properties in order to understand how they correlate (Paper IV).
- Study starch structure in developing barley endosperm in order to understand more about starch synthesis (Paper V).

# 3 Materials and methods

Barley starch structure and properties were studied in 10 different cultivars and breeding lines, provided either as isolated starch or kernels. Methods that underwent modification or which are of great importance for the results presented in this thesis are described in detail below, whilst only brief descriptions of other methods are presented, since they are described in detail in Papers I-V.

### 3.1 Barley cultivars/breeding lines

In Papers I-III, barley amylopectin structure was studied in detail. The barley starch studied in these papers were provided by SW Seed, Svalöv, Sweden, and originated from Cindy and Cinnamon, both possessing the *wax* mutation, the high amylose barley Glacier Ac38, which possessess the *amo1* mutation, and one double recessive breeding line, SW 49427, which possesses both the *wax* and *amo1* mutation (Table 1). These four barley samples were also included in Paper IV, together with six other barley cultivars/breeding lines, in an investigation of the relationship between amylopectin structure and physical properties of starch. These six additional barley samples were NGB 114602 (normal starch), KVL 301 (low  $\beta$ -glucan content), SW 28708 (Waxy), SLU 7 (with a high fibre and  $\beta$ -glucan content), Karmosé (a high amylose cultivar possessing the *amo1* mutation) and the normal feed barley Gustav. These six cultivars/breeding lines were all grown during summer 2009/10 in Vilcún, Chile, where the climate conditions are similar to those in Sweden.

The trials in Chile formed part of the BarleyFunFood research programme at the Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), the general aim of which was to find and study mutants of barley with altered carbohydrate composition in order to identify barleys with potentially good nutritional and technological properties. Initially, 250 barley cultivars and breeding lines were collected and screened with near infrared (NIR) techniques. Based on the results, 20 barleys which showed different NIR spectra and varied widely in terms of previously documented traits were chosen and grown in Vilcún during summer 2008/09. These barley cultivars/breeding lines were further characterized and six cultivars/breeding lines with differing carbohydrate composition were chosen and grown in Vilcún during summer 2009/10 and grain composition was studied in detail. In Paper V, starch structure during endosperm development was studied in three of the six barleys, namely SLU 7, Karmosé and Gustav, which were grown under controlled conditions in a phytotron.

Cultivar/breeding line	Provided by	Characteristics	Paper
Starch			
Cindy	SW Seed	Waxy	I - IV
Cinnamon	SW Seed	Waxy	I - IV
SW 49427	SW Seed	Waxy, amo1	I - IV
Glacier Ac38	SW Seed	Amo1, high amylose	I - IV
Kernels			
NGB 114602	NGB <sup>a</sup>	Anthocyanin rich, normal starch	IV
SLU 7	SLU	Shrunken endosperm, high β-glucan	IV, V
KVL 301	KVL <sup>b</sup>	Mutant in Bomi, low $\beta$ -glucan	IV
SW 28708	SW Seed	Waxy, hulless	IV
Karmosé	SW Seed	Amo1, high amylose	IV, V
Gustav	SW Seed	Feed, normal starch	IV, V

Table 1. Origin and characteristics of barley cultivars/breeding lines studied in this thesis

<sup>a</sup> Nordic Genetic Bank.

<sup>b</sup> The Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University of Denmark.

### 3.2 Isolating barley starch

When studying the influence of genetic background on amylopectin structure, it is crucial to have a representative starch sample. This is the reason why the method of McDonald & Stark (1988), which was developed with the aim of minimizing the loss of B-granules, was chosen (with minor modifications) to isolate starch in Paper IV (Figure 4). In brief, barley flour was steeped in 0.02 M HCl in order to inactivate enzymes. After neutralization and wet-mixing, the slurry was wet-sieved through a 70  $\mu$ m mesh cloth and the fibre residue was rubbed with a pestle and mortar. Crude starch and fibre residue were separately incubated with proteinase K. The fibre residue was wet-sieved through the 70  $\mu$ m mesh cloth and the starch was pooled and treated once more with proteinase K. The starch was then mixed twice with toluene to remove protein



Figure 4. Flow chart of the starch isolation procedure used in Paper IV.

residues and any starch granules remaining in the toluene-aqueous interface were retrieved. The isolated starch was dried in acetone.

In Paper V, however, a simpler, quick method by Carciofi (2011) was modified and used (Figure 5). In the modified version, freeze-dried kernels were milled in a coffee grinder, mixed with 1% sodium dodecyl sulphate containing 5 mM dithiothreitol and wet-mixed. The slurry was stirred for 30 minutes to inactivate enzymes and wet-sieved through a 70  $\mu$ m mesh cloth. Starch was treated with lichenase to remove any  $\beta$ -glucan present, and air-dried in ethanol.



Figure 5. Flow chart of the starch isolation procedure used in Paper V.

#### 3.3 Amylose content

In Papers I-IV, the amylose content of barley starch was determined by gel permeation chromatography (GPC) using a  $90 \times 1.6$  cm Sepharose CL 6B column with 0.5 M NaOH as eluent. Starch was debranched with the enzymes isoamylase and pullulanase at pH 5.5 before being applied onto the column. Every second fraction of 0.5 mL was collected and the carbohydrate content analyzed by the phenol-sulphuric acid method (DuBois *et al.*, 1956). Waxy barley starch containing 0% amylose was used to determine the cut-off between amylose and amylopectin. Any carbohydrates in barley starches eluting before the waxy starch were considered to be amylose.

In Paper V, the amylose content was determined by a colorimetric method in which the iodine complex was stabilized with trichloroacetic acid. Lipids were removed after solubilization of starch according to Morrison & Laignelet (1983) and the amylose content analyzed according to Chrastil (1987).

#### 3.4 Production of domains, clusters and building blocks

In Papers I-III, barley amylopectin structure was studied in detail in the four barley cultivars/breeding lines Cindy, Cinnamon, Glacier Ac38 and SW 49427. The amylopectin was fractionated according to Klucinec and Thompson (1998) and degraded with  $\alpha$ -amylase for a short period of time into domains, *i.e.* groups of clusters (Figure 6), which were size-fractionated and each domain size fraction was further degraded into clusters (Paper I). Amylopectin, domains and clusters were transformed into  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrins in order to study their internal structure. In Paper II, domains and clusters were degraded into building blocks (Bbl) by extensive treatment with  $\alpha$ -amylase.

In Paper IV, aylopectin was also fractionated and its structure studied in detail in the barley cultivars/breeding lines NGB 114602, SLU 7, KVL 301, SW 28708, Karmosé and Gustav. However, in that case amylopectin was directly degraded into clusters and the clusters were further degraded into Bbl. The internal structure of clusters was studied as  $\varphi_i\beta$ -limit dextrins.

The size distribution of domains and clusters was analyzed by GPC on a Sepharose CL 6B column ( $1.6 \times 90$  cm) with 0.5 M NaOH as eluent. Bbl are much smaller than clusters and their size distribution was therefore analyzed on a Superdex 30 column ( $1.6 \times 90$  cm) using 0.05 M NaCl as eluent. Fractions were collected from both columns and their carbohydrate content analyzed with the phenol-sulphuric acid method (DuBois *et al.*, 1956).



Figure 6. Schematic illustration of the degradation of amylopectin into domains, clusters (Paper I) and building blocks (Paper II) by α-amylase.

#### 3.5 Labeling with 2-aminopyridine

In Paper III the reducing end of amylopectin, domains and clusters was labelled with 2-AP according to Hanashiro & Takeda (1998) in order to study how clusters are interconnected in barley amylopectin. Labelled amylopectin, domains and clusters were debranched with isoamylase and pullulanase and analyzed with high-performance size-exclusion chromatography (HPSEC). The system consisted of a SWXL guard column, one G3000 SWXL column and two G2000 SWXL columns (7.8 × 300 mm) connected in series and samples were detected with both refractive index and fluorescence. Treatment with  $\beta$ -amylase after debranching of labelled samples showed complete debranching.

Clusters and amylopectin were also labelled with 2-AP prior to extensive  $\alpha$ -amylolysis in order to study the type of Bbl situated at the reducing end. Labelled Bbl was analyzed with HPSEC as described for the labelled and debranched samples.

#### 3.6 Chain length size distribution

The chain length size distribution was studied in amylopectin (Papers I and IV), domains (Paper I), clusters (Papers I and IV) and whole starch (Paper V). The samples were debranched with isoamylase and pullulanase (only isoamylase was used in Paper IV) and analyzed with HPAEC-PAD by a Dionex system (Dionex, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). The column used was a CarboPac PA-100 column ( $4 \times 250$  mm) and the samples were eluted with a gradient of NaOAc in 0.15 M NaOH. In Paper III, amylopectin was labelled with 2-AP and the labelled and debranched samples were analyzed with HPSEC.

The internal chain length size distribution in Papers I, II and IV was analyzed by transforming samples into  $\varphi,\beta$ -limit dextrins using phosphorylase *a* and  $\beta$ -amylase before debranching and analysis with HPAEC-PAD. In Paper IV, the  $\varphi,\beta$ -limit dextrins were debranched using only pullulanase due to problems with impure enzymes. In Paper V, whole starch was transformed into  $\beta$ -limit dextrins and debranched with isoamylase and pullulanase.

### 3.7 Physical properties

The physical properties of starch were studied in Paper IV and correlated to structural parameters. Pasting properties of barley were determined by RVA (RVA, Newport Scientific, Warriewood, NSW, Australia). Barley flour (from

NGB 114602, SLU 7, KVL 301, SW 28708, Karmosé and Gustav) and starch (from Cinnamon, Cindy, Glacier Ac38 and SW 49427) were analyzed using method std1 defined by the manufacturer, with a total running time of 13 min.

Gelatinization and retrogradation parameters were analyzed with differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) using a Q1000 differential scanning calorimeter (TA Instruments, Universal Analysis 2000). The ratio of starch:water during gelatinization was 1:3 and the scanning temperature range was 20-120 °C at a heating rate of 2 °C/min. Retrogradation of barley starch was studied in gelatinized starch at a starch:water ratio of 1:2, stored at 4 °C for 3, 6 and 10 days. The scanning temperature range was 10-120 °C at a rate of 10 °C/min.

#### 3.8 Statistical methods

In Paper II, the four barley cultivars/breeding lines were grouped based on their genetic background, with Glacier Ac38 and SW 49427 (both possessing the *amo1* mutation) constituting the *amo1* group and Cinnamon and Cindy the 'normal' group. Statistical tests were performed with the generalized linear model (GLM) procedure in Minitab 16 (State College, PA, USA). Differences between the two groups of barley and between domain and cluster fractions were analyzed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) using group, fraction (domain and cluster) and size fraction as factors. Tukey pairwise comparisons were used to study differences between size fractions.

The data obtained in Paper III were analyzed using the statistical software Minitab 16 (State College, PA, USA). The results were analyzed by regression using the GLM procedure.

The relationship between physical and chemical properties was evaluated by partial least square (PLS) regression (Paper IV). The models were validated by full cross-validation and uncertainty testing as defined by the Unscrambler software (CAMO Software AS, Oslo, Norway).

The results from Paper V were analyzed by ANOVA using the GLM procedure and Tukey pairwise comparisons in Minitab 16 (State College, PA, USA) to find differences between cultivars/breeding lines and between the different stages of maturity (9, 12 and 24 DAF).

## 4 Results and discussion

The fine structure of amylopectin from the 10 different barley cultivars/breeding lines studied and the impact of genetic background on amylopectin structure and on properties of starch are described in detail in Papers I-V.

Pasting properties of barley flour were studied by RVA in the six barley cultivars/breeding lines included in the BarleyFunFood project (Figure 7). The viscosity of a flour slurry depends on several factors, among which starch content is important, but *e.g.* protein and cell wall polysaccharides that also absorb water may contribute significantly. The different barleys showed distinct profiles, with the waxy barley SW 28708 having the lower pasting and peak temperature typical of waxy starch. KVL 301 did not gelatinize and SLU 7 showed a high final viscosity, probably due to its high content of  $\beta$ -glucan. The different pasting profiles showed that the barley cultivars/breeding lines had differing carbohydrate composition and were thus a good selection for studying the relationship between structure and properties.

The fine structure of barley amylopectin was studied by hydrolysis of the molecule with  $\alpha$ -amylase into domains (Paper I), clusters and building blocks (Paper I, II, III and IV). For the 10 barley cultivars/breeding lines with different genetic background and amylose content studied (Table 2), the amylopectin fine structure was correlated to the physical properties of starch in Paper IV, and starch structure was studied during endosperm development in Paper V.



Figure 7. Pasting profiles of flour made from six different barley cultivars/breeding lines.

Sample	Genetic	Amvlose <sup>1</sup>	A <sub>f</sub> <sup>2</sup>	DP>38
F	background	j	ip	
Cinnamon	wax	0.0	5.9	6.0
SW 28708	wax	0.6	6.6	5.9
Cindy	wax	10.2	5.5	6.1
NGB 114602		30.3	6.1	5.5
Gustav		31.2	6.3	5.5
KVL 301		31.5	5.0	5.6
SLU 7		32.7	5.6	4.8
SW 49427	wax amol	3.7	6.1	4.1
Glacier Ac38	amo1	32.6	4.8	5.1
Karmosé	amo1	47.8	5.6	4.6

 Table 2. Genetic background, amylose content, and molar proportion of chain length categories in amylopectin from 10 different barley cultivars/breeding lines

<sup>1</sup> Percentage amylose in starch.

<sup>2</sup> Fingerprint A-chains with DP 6-8.

#### 4.1 Amylopectin structure

Three of the 10 barley cultivars/breeding lines studied (SW 49427, Glacier Ac38 and Karmosé) possessed the *amo1* mutation (Table 2), which resulted in an altered amylopectin structure. Barleys with the *amo1* mutation had fewer long chains of DP $\geq$ 38 in amylopectin (p<0.05) (Papers I and IV; Table 2), confirming the work of others (Borén *et al.*, 2008; Matsuki *et al.*, 2008). The *amo1* mutation was also shown to result in a lower (p<0.05) molar proportion of long chains of DP $\geq$ 38 in amylopectin in immature kernels (Paper V), where Karmosé had 4.9-5.6 % of this chain category and SLU 7 and Gustav had >6%.

Amylopectin structure was studied in detail in the barley cultivars/breeding lines Cinnamon, Cindy, Glacier Ac38 and SW 49427 by hydrolyzing the amylopectin with  $\alpha$ -amylase into domains, which were size-fractionated and further hydrolyzed into clusters (Paper I). The ICL and total internal chain length (TICL) were lower (4.9 and 11.4-11.6, respectively) in amylopectin from the *amo1* mutants Glacier Ac38 and SW 49427 than in amylopectin from Cinnamon and Cindy (5.5-5.8 and 12.8-13.3, respectively) (Paper I). Immature starch from the *amo1* mutant Karmosé had a lower (p<0.05) ICL (~4.8) than Gustav and SLU 7 (>5) (Paper V). This suggests that barley possessing the *amo1* mutation has a denser structure.

The *amo1* mutation was further shown to result in more large clusters (Papers I and IV; Figure 8), and the clusters generally contained more  $B_{fp}$ -chains. The molar proportion of  $B_{fp}$ -chains was generally >16% in *amo1* mutants, compared with less than 15% in Cinnamon and Cindy (Paper I). No differences were seen for the other chain categories in the clusters and thus the molecular structures of clusters were probably very similar.



*Figure 8.* Size distribution of  $\varphi,\beta$ -limit dextrins of clusters from the *amo1* mutant Karmosé (- - -) and normal barley Gustav (-).

The  $\varphi,\beta$ -limit dextrins of barley domains were found to have few long chains of DP $\geq$ 28 (Paper I), which are theoretically involved in the interconnection of clusters (Hizukuri, 1986). The number of long chains in the large domains was too few to be able to interconnect all of the clusters and therefore shorter Bchains are probably also involved in barley cluster interconnection. Potato and cassava are reported to have more long chains than expected from the number of clusters in their domains (Bertoft, 2007a; Laohaphatanaleart *et al.*, 2010), suggesting differences in cluster structure, and thus in the cluster biosynthesis, between different plant species.

#### 4.1.1 Building block structure

The size distribution of Bbl was similar in all barley cultivars/breeding lines studied in this thesis (Papers II and IV) and was also similar to the distribution in potato (Bertoft, 2007b), sweet potato (Zhu *et al.*, 2011), wheat (Kalinga, 2013), cassava (Bertoft *et al.*, 2010) and amaranth (Kong, Corke & Bertoft, 2009). This suggests a rather conserved structure of the basic structural unit in amylopectin from different plants (Bertoft, Koch & Åman, 2012b).

The structure of different size categories of Bbl (Paper II) was found comparable to that in potato (Bertoft, 2007b), sweet potato (Zhu *et al.*, 2011),

cassava (Bertoft *et al.*, 2010) and several other types of starch (Bertoft *et al.*, 2012b). Bbl of group 2 consisted of two chains, that of group 3 of three chains, and that of group 4 of four chains. Groups 5 and 6 probably consisted of several types of blocks having an average of 6.5 and ~10 chains, respectively, as also shown by Bertoft *et al.* (2012b).

The *amo1* mutants had a higher proportion of large Bbl of group 6 (p<0.005) and a lower proportion of Bbl of group 2 (p<0.05) (Papers II and IV), as illustrated in Figure 9. Overall, the IB-CL of the barley amylopectins was shorter (~6.0) than in potato, sweet potato, amaranth and cassava, which have values of 6.8-8.5 (Bertoft, 2007b; Bertoft *et al.*, 2010; Kong, Corke & Bertoft, 2009; Zhu *et al.*, 2011). Thus, barley clusters have a more compact structure.



*Figure 9.* Size distribution of building blocks from the *amo1* mutant Karmosé (- - -) and normal barley Gustav (--), with numbers indicating the different size categories of building blocks.

#### 4.1.2 C- and bc-chain size distribution

The interconnection mode of clusters was studied in the barley cultivars/breeding lines Cinnamon, Cindy, Glacier Ac38 and SW 49427 (Paper III) using the same samples as studied in Papers I and II. C-chain size distribution was studied by labelling  $\varphi,\beta$ -limit dextrins of amylopectin, large and small domains and their clusters with 2-AP according to Hanashiro &

Takeda (1998). Since all A-chains are degraded into maltosyl stubs and the Bchains have a DP of 3 or more (Bertoft, 2004), it was possible to compare the internal part of the C- and bc-chains (new C-chains formed by  $\alpha$ -amylolysis of amylopectin) with the B-chain size-distribution.

The  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrins of amylopectin of all four barley cultivars/breeding lines possessed a broad size-distribution of C-chains and the longest C-chains (C<sub>max</sub>) had a DP>100 (Paper III; Table 3). This is in agreement with Hanashiro *et al.* (2002), who reported a C-chain size distribution in whole amylopectin from different cereals and tubers ranging from DP ~10 to ~130, with a peak at DP ~40. The shorter CL and C<sub>max</sub> found in Paper III (Table 3) suggest that the C-chains generally possess an external segment, which has been removed in the  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrins.

The size distribution of bc-chains in domains and clusters was also broad, with an average  $bc_{max}$  of DP 95 and 59 in large and small domains, respectively, and 53 and 46 in large and small clusters, respectively (Table 3). This possibly reflects the wide DP range of the molecules in each fraction. The narrower chain length distribution of bc-chains in clusters compared with domains suggests that the longer chains found in domains were hydrolyzed by the  $\alpha$ -amylase.



*Figure 10.* Chain length distribution of C- and bc-chains in  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrins of amylopectin (—), large domain (- - -) and large cluster (…) of the barley cultivar Cindy.

In a limit dextrin, the size distribution of B-chains is bimodal, but that of both C- and bc-chains is unimodal (Figure 10). We found that the CL of C- and bc-chains was similar in the different barley cultivars/breeding lines, but differed markedly from the CL of B-chains (Paper III; Table 3). In amylopectin, the CL of C-chains was 32-35, while the CL of the B-chains was only 17-18. In domains and clusters, the CL of bc-chains and B-chains was on average 24-32 and 15-16, respectively.

We sub-divided the C- and bc-chains into short chains of DP 8-18 and long chains of DP>18, based on a recent study suggesting that internal B-chains of ~8-18 interconnect two Bbl, while chains of DP>18 interconnect three or more Bbl (Bertoft, Koch & Åman 2012a). In amylopectin from the barley cultivars/breeding lines studied in this thesis, the ratio of long to short (L:S) C-chains was 9-11 times higher than the corresponding ratio of B-chains (Table 3). In domains and clusters, the L:S ratio of bc-chains was on average 9-15 and 8-9 times higher, respectively, than the L:S ratio of B-chains (Paper III).

The unimodal size distribution of C- and bc-chains, and the difference in CL and L:S ratio compared with B-chains, implies that C- and bc-chains are not simply a special type of B-chain, but in fact comprise a specific group of their own.

	C- and b	oc-chains	F	s				
Sample	$CL^1$	$C_{max}$ or $bc_{max}^2$	L:S <sup>3</sup>	(	$CL^1$	L:S <sup>3</sup>	L:S <sup>3</sup>	
SW 49427 <sup>4</sup>	32	101	3.6	1	7	0.4		
Glacier Ac38 <sup>4</sup>	35	121	4.3	1	7	0.4		
Cinnamon <sup>4</sup>	33	105	4.4	1	8	0.5		
Cindy <sup>4</sup>	33	102	4.6	1	8	0.5		
Large domains <sup>5</sup>	32	95	4.5	1	6	0.3		
Small domains <sup>5</sup>	27	59	3.4	1	6	0.4		
Large clusters <sup>5</sup>	25	53	2.6	1	5	0.3		
Small clusters <sup>5</sup>	24	46	2.3	1	5	0.3		

Table 3. *B*-, *C*- and *bc*-chains in  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrins in amylopectin, domains and clusters from four cultivars/breeding lines of barley

<sup>1</sup> Average chain length of C- and bc-chains.

<sup>2</sup> DP of longest C- or bc-chain detected.

<sup>3</sup> Molar ratio of long chains of DP>18 to short chains of DP 8-18.

 $^4 \phi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrins of amylopectin.

<sup>5</sup> Average values of large and small domains and clusters from all four barley cultivars/breeding lines.

#### 4.1.3 Bbl at the reducing end

The size distribution of building blocks situated at the reducing end (C-Bbl) in amylopectin and clusters was almost identical in all four barley cultivars/breeding lines studied and their size distribution was similar to the distribution of all building blocks (Paper III; Table 4). Glacier Ac38 and SW 49427 (both possessing the *amo1* mutation) were found to have a higher molar proportion of large building blocks compared with Cinnamon and Cindy (Paper II), and also had more of the larger C-Bbl of groups 5 and 6 (p<0.01) compared with Cinnamon and Cindy (Paper III). Thus, it appears that any type of building block can be situated at the reducing end of amylopectin and the clusters, implying a random distribution of building blocks adjacent to an inter cluster segment (IC-S), *i.e.* a chain segment separating clusters, thus having an ICL of more than 9 residues.

	$amol^1$			Normal <sup>2</sup>			
Sample	AP	Large clusters	Small clusters	AP	Large clusters	Small clusters	
Group 2							
All Bbl	n.a. <sup>3</sup>	51.1	54.4	n.a.	54.6	56.1	
C-Bbl	47.6	53.7	56.0	52.0	53.3	54.8	
Group 3							
All Bbl	n.a.	26.4	26.0	n.a.	26.8	26.4	
C-Bbl	25.6	24.5	24.4	25.25	27.0	26.1	
Group 4							
All Bbl	n.a.	9.7	9.2	n.a.	8.9	8.9	
C-Bbl	11.2	10.4	9.7	10.6	10.5	10.2	
Group 5							
All Bbl	n.a.	9.2	8.0	n.a.	7.7	7.7	
C-Bbl	10.3	9.1	8.2	8.3	8.0	7.7	
Group 6							
All Bbl	n.a.	3.6	2.5	n.a.	2.0	1.5	
C-Bbl	5.5	2.5	1.8	4.0	1.4	1.2	

Table 4. Relative number distribution (%) of all building blocks and C-building blocks in barley amylopectin and clusters

<sup>1</sup> Average values of Glacier Ac38 and SW 49427.

<sup>2</sup> Average values of Cinnamon and Cindy.

<sup>3</sup> Not analyzed.

#### 4.1.4 Cluster interconnection

The traditional cluster model by Hizukuri (1986) and the backbone model (Bertoft, 2007b) use different definitions of a cluster. In the cluster model by Hizukuri, chains with length up to approximately DP 28 build up a single cluster of amylopectin, whereas in the Bertoft backbone model clusters are defined as groups of chains with ICL<9. Thus, according to the cluster model, in a  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrin of a cluster, the bc-chain would most likely be shorter than DP 28. However, in this thesis the  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrins of clusters possessed many bc-chains longer than this (Paper III; Figure 10).

In the backbone model, long chains form an amorphous backbone to which short chains are attached and form the crystalline lamella, and the clusters can be interconnected by both long and short B-chains. New bc-chains created by the  $\alpha$ -amylase can be either long or short depending on the distribution of IC-S. Thus, the backbone model provides an explanation for the high amount of long bc-chains found in clusters, since in this model there is no upper limit for the length of the bc-chain. Since the *amo1* mutation did not affect the C- and bc-chain size distributions, it is possible that the more compact structure in *amo1* barley is the result of more chains being attached to the C- and bc-chains and thus more side chains on the backbone. This would give rise to larger Bbl and clusters, while the length of the C- and bc-chains would remain the same.

The large difference in L:S ratio between C- or bc-chains and B-chains suggests that C- and bc-chains more frequently interconnect several building blocks and clusters. It is thus possible that bc- and B-chains have different structural roles. The backbone in amylopectin possibly consists of the C-chain and a certain type of B-chains with a high frequency of IC-S, whereas other B-chains mostly exist as side chains to the backbone. The  $\alpha$ -amylase would then preferentially attack the IC-S in the backbone and new bc-chains created by the  $\alpha$ -amylase would be of the same category as the C-chain.

#### 4.2 Influence of amylopectin structure on physical properties

In Paper IV the physical properties of starch were studied in all 10 barley cultivars/breeding lines used in this thesis. Gelatinisation was studied by DSC at a starch:water ratio of 1:3. The barley cultivars SW 49427, Glacier Ac38 and Karmosé, all possessing the *amo1* mutation, had a broader gelatinisation temperature range (p<0.001) due to higher mean peak (p<0.001) and conclusion temperature (p<0.05) (Figure 11), which is in agreement with previous studies (Matsuki *et al.* 2008). The peak temperature of gelatinisation was ~60-64°C and the conclusion temperature ~69-74°C in the *amo1* barleys, compared with ~55-61°C and ~62-66°C, respectively, in the other barley

cultivars/breeding lines. The broader temperature range of gelatinisation in the *amol* barleys suggests that they possess more heterogeneous crystals.

The peak temperature of gelatinisation was modelled by PLS and the regression coefficients showed that it was affected by the size of the clusters in amylopectin and the density of the molecule (Paper IV). Large clusters with many chains contributed to a lower peak temperature (p<0.1). Shorter chains in the building blocks (p<0.05), few building blocks in the clusters and short ICL in building blocks (p<0.1) resulted in a higher peak temperature. Thus, within the granule, more perfect crystals are formed, resulting in a higher peak temperature of gelatinisation, if the amylopectin clusters are small and their building blocks have short chains and a dense structure.



Figure 11. Gelatinisation onset, peak and conclusion temperatures of the different barley cultivars/breeding lines.

Barley starch was also gelatinised at a starch:water ratio of 1:2 and stored at 4°C for 3, 6 and 10 days to study retrogradation (Paper IV). The waxy barleys Cinnamon and SW 28708 did not show any retrogradation until after 10 days of storage, and the waxy barley Cindy did not show any retrogradation until after 6 days (Figure 12). All other barleys had retrograded already after 3 days at 4°C. No systematic difference was found in the melting temperature of retrograded starch between the different days of storage. The onset of melting

temperature was ~41-51°C, the peak ~54-59°C and the conclusion temperature ~63-74°C for all barley cultivars/breeding lines at the different number of days of storage (Figure 12). The markedly higher



Figure 12. Retrogradation onset, peak and conclusion temperatures of the different barley cultivars/breeding lines after 3, 6 and 10 days at  $4^{\circ}$ C.

conclusion temperature for SW 49427 at 3 days compared to 6 and 10 days was due to difficulties determining the temperature.

Although no significant effect of the *amo1* mutation was seen on the melting temperature of retrograded starch, barley possessing the *amo1* mutation had a higher enthalpy than the other cultivars/breeding lines (p<0.001), indicating that more crystals were formed.

The percentage of crystallinity in the granule did not have an impact on gelatinisation, but it contributed significantly to the PLS model of starch retrogradation. Granules with a high percentage of crystallinity in native form had a high peak temperature and lower enthalpy of melting of retrograded starch (p<0.05). Thus, starch from those granules formed less, but more perfect, crystals during retrogradation.

Amylose content also contributed to the model of amylopectin retrogradation, which is in agreement with previous findings by Zhou *et al.* (2011), with a higher amylose content resulting in a lower peak temperature of melting (p<0.05) and a higher enthalpy (p<0.1). Thus, more crystals were formed, but they were less perfect. However, it is possible that the correlation between amylose and retrogradation is caused by a correlation between amylopectin structure and amylose, since the barley cultivars with the highest amylose content also possess the *amo1* mutation, which affects amylopectin structure. The fact that the waxy barley SW 49427, possessing the *amo1* mutation, retrograded as if it were a high amylose barley supports this suggestion. Long chains of amylopectin resulted in more perfect crystals, although fewer crystals were formed.

Amylopectin molecules which had larger clusters, consisting of more chains, formed less perfect crystals. The presence of many large building blocks in the clusters also resulted in faster retrogradation, and thus, in less perfect crystals being formed.

### 4.3 Starch structure in developing barley endosperm

The structure of starch in developing barley endosperm was studied in the cultivars/breeding lines Gustav, Karmosé (possessing the *amo1* mutation) and SLU 7 (with a high content of  $\beta$ -glucan) (Paper V). These barleys were grown in a phytotron and their spikes harvested at 9, 12 and 24 DAF. The dry weight of the kernels increased with maturity (p<0.05), which is in agreement with previous findings by Fast Seefeldt *et al.* (2009). The recorded increase was from 19.4 to 39.6 mg for SLU 7, from 19.8 to 46.9 mg for Karmosé and from 16.6 to 45.3 mg for Gustav (Figure 13). The starch content increased with maturity (p<0.05) and was lowest in SLU 7 (p<0.05).



*Figure 13.* Kernel dry weight in mg ( $\circ$ ), starch content as a percentage of dry matter ( $\Delta$ ), and amylose content as a percentage of starch ( $\Box$ ) in barley varieties SLU 7, Karmosé and Gustav at 9, 12 and 24 days after flowering (DAF).

Starch was isolated by wet-sieving through a 70 µm mesh cloth and treated with lichenase to remove any remaining  $\beta$ -glucans. The purity of the isolated starch varied between 89.5 and 93.6 %. In all three barley cultivars/breeding lines, the amylose content increased with maturity (p<0.01) (Figure 11), confirming the work of others (Banks *et al.*, 1973; McDonald *et al.*, 1991; Fast Seefeldt *et al.*, 2009). This can be explained by the fact that the granule-bound starch synthase (GBSS), which synthesizes amylose (Patron *et al.*, 2002), is expressed more strongly late in development (Radchuk *et al.*, 2009). The amylose content was significantly higher (p<0.001) in the *amo1* mutant Karmosé than in Gustav and SLU 7 (Paper V), which is in agreement with previous findings on barley with the *amo1* mutation (Borén *et al.*, 2008; Li *et al.*, 2011; Matsuki *et al.*, 2008).

Amylose and amylopectin were not separated from each other when studying starch structure in the developing endosperm (Paper V). However, amylose chains are too long to be detected by HPAEC-PAD, and thus the chain length distribution represents the size distribution of chains in amylopectin. In all barley cultivars/breeding lines, the molar proportion of chains with DP 22–37 decreased with maturity (p<0.01): from 20.4 to 18.9 % in SLU 7, from 20.8

to 18.6 % in Karmosé, and from 20.7 to 19.5 % in Gustav (Table 5). A recent study on starch structure during endosperm development in wheat (Waduge, 2012) showed an increase in  $A_{fp}$ -chains and a decrease in chains of DP 18-26 during pre-physiological maturity, *i.e.* up to 35 DAF (Dupont & Altenbach, 2003). In our study, the molar proportion of  $A_{fp}$ -chains also tended to increase, although the differences were not statistically significant (Paper V).

The internal structure was studied by transforming starch into  $\beta$ -limit dextrin. In a  $\beta$ -limit dextrin, maltose and maltotriose originate from the A-chains, with only a minor part of maltotriose originating from B-chains (Bertoft, 2004). The barley amylopectin studied in Paper I contained 48-49% A-chains (Bertoft *et al.*, 2011), while in the starch from immature kernels studied in Paper V, maltose and maltotriose together constituted ~51-53% of the chains in the  $\beta$ -limit dextrins (Table 5). The slightly higher values in immature samples may be attributed to the fact that we analyzed  $\beta$ -limit dextrins instead of  $\varphi$ , $\beta$ -limit dextrins, resulting in somewhat more of maltotriose originating from B-chains, which could have overestimated the number of A-chains (Bertoft, 2004). The molar proportion of B<sub>fp</sub>-chains (DP 4-7) increased with increasing maturity (p=0.05) while the molar proportion of BS<sub>major</sub>-chains of DP 15-27 decreased (p<0.005) (Table 5). No differences were seen for the other chain categories. This differs from wheat, where all B-chain categories are reported to increase during development (Kalinga, 2013).

Starch branching enzymes (SBEs) are expressed later in development than starch synthases (SS) (Radchuk *et al.*, 2009). SBEI, in particular, is expressed late in barley endosperm development (Mutisya *et al.*, 2003), suggesting that the rearrangement of chains in amylopectin by SBE occurs more frequently at later stages of maturity. Higher SBE activity would result in a more tightly branched structure of the amylopectin synthesized later in endosperm development. The higher proportion of B<sub>fp</sub>-chains and decreasing proportion of BS-chains of DP 15-27 seen in the barley cultivars/breeding lines during development might be due to cleavage of the BS<sub>major</sub>-chains, giving rise to more B<sub>fp</sub>-chains and thus a more tightly branched structure.

Cultivar/breeding line		SLU 7			Karmose	Karmosé			Gustav		
DAF		9	12	24	9	12	24	9	12	24	
Starch	$A_{fp}$	5.2	5.1	5.3	4.7	5.0	5.6	5.1	5.5	6.2	
	DP 9–17	54.0	54.4	55.9	55.6	55.1	56.8	54.4	54.2	53.7	
	DP 18-21	13.8	14.1	13.9	13.9	14.1	14.0	13.1	13.3	13.6	
	DP 22–37	20.4	20.0	18.9	20.8	20.3	18.6	20.7	20.2	19.5	
	DP≥38	6.7	6.3	7.8	5.1	5.6	4.9	6.8	6.8	7.0	
β-LD	DP 2 + 3	51.3	53.1	52.3	51.8	51.4	51.5	53.3	52.1	52.6	
	$\mathbf{B}_{\mathrm{fp}}$	14.2	14.1	14.8	14.6	15.4	15.5	12.6	13.2	14.2	
	DP 8–14	17.4	16.8	17.7	17.7	17.8	17.9	17.1	17.1	16.9	
	DP15-27	11.2	10.4	10.0	11.5	11.0	10.5	11.2	11.2	10.3	
	BL	5.9	5.6	5.2	4.5	4.4	4.6	5.8	6.4	6.0	

Table 5. Molar composition (%) of chain categories<sup>1</sup> and lengths of chain segments in starch and β-limit dextrins from three barley cultivars/breeding lines

<sup>1</sup> Chains were divided as:  $A_{fp} = DP 6-8$ ;  $B_{fp} = DP 4-7$ ;  $BL = DP \ge 28$ .  $BS_{major}$ -chains were sub-divided into dp 8–14 and dp 15–27.

# 5 Conclusions

This thesis examined the fine structure of barley amylopectin, knowledge of which is important in order to better understand the biosynthesis of starch. Barley amylopectin was degraded into domains, clusters and building blocks, and the *amo1* mutation was found to result in altered amylopectin structure. Barley cultivars/breeding lines with the *amo1* mutation had a higher molar proportion of large building blocks and lower proportion of long chains of DP $\geq$ 38.

The *amo1* mutation also affected the physical properties of starch. Barley cultivars/breeding lines possessing the *amo1* mutation had a broader gelatinisation temperature range, suggesting the crystals in the granule are more heterogeneous in these barleys. Overall, small clusters with a compact structure had more ordered crystals in the granule, resulting in a higher gelatinisation temperature. Fast retrogradation was promoted by short chains in amylopectin and large building blocks. However, amylopectin that retrograded rapidly formed less perfect crystals, seen as a lower peak temperature of melting. More perfect crystals in retrograded starch were found when the amylopectin had more long chains and small building blocks.

The *amo1* mutation did not affect the size distribution of C-chains. The Cchains in amylopectin can be of any length and thus differ from the B-chains with their unimodal size distribution, suggesting that they are biosynthesized differently from B-chains. When amylopectin is hydrolysed by  $\alpha$ -amylase, new C-chains are created, named bc-chains. The length of these bc-chains depends on the distribution of IC-S (the chain segments long enough for the enzyme to hydrolyse) in amylopectin. The size distribution of bc-chains is also unimodal and thus the backbone in amylopectin consists of a special type of B-chains which, when cleaved by  $\alpha$ -amylase, become bc-chains of a similar type to Cchains. Any type of Bbl can be situated at the reducing end of amylopectin and any type of Bbl can be associated with the IC-S. The structure of amylopectin synthesised at later stages of endosperm development was different from the amylopectin synthesised at early stages. The external chain length did not change during development, suggesting that changes only occurred in the internal part of amylopectin. Amylopectin synthesised at later stages of development was more tightly branched, as reflected in a higher proportion of B<sub>fp</sub>-chains and fewer short B-chains of DP 15-27 in the  $\beta$ -limit dextrin.

# 6 Future research

The aim of this thesis was to study the fine structure of amylopectin and to find correlations between amylopectin structure and the physical properties of starch. Detailed knowledge of amylopectin structure would also make it possible to better understand the biosynthesis of starch, and thus in the future could lead to new possibilities to create tailor-made starch *in planta*. However, many questions still remain unanswered and further work needs to be carried out, for example:

- Studies on the different roles of enzymes and enzyme complexes involved in biosynthesis and interactions between these.
- Investigations of how altered expression/activity of these enzymes affects the structure of amylopectin.
- Simultaneous studies on the fine structure of amylopectin during endosperm development and expression of enzymes involved in biosynthesis.
- Further investigations of how amylopectin structure affects the properties of starch.
- Studies on the correlation between altered amylopectin structure and the physical properties of starch.

## References

- Åman, P. & Newman, W. (1986). Chemical composition of some different types of barley grown in Montana, U.S.A.. *Journal of Cereal Science* 4:133-141.
- Ao, Z.H. & Jane, J.L. (2007). Characterization and modeling of the A- and B-granule starches of wheat, triticale, and barley. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 67(1):46-55.
- Banks, W., Greenwood, C.T. & Muir, D.D. (1973). Studies on the biosynthesis of starch granules. *Starch/Stärke* 25(5):153-157.
- Bao, J., Xiao, P., Hiratsuka, M., Sun, M. & Umemoto, T. (2009). Granule-bound SSIIa protein content and its relationship with amylopectin structure and selatinization temperature of rice starch. *Starch/Stärke* 61:431-437.
- Bathgate, G.N. & Palmer, G.H. (1972). A reassessment of the chemical structure of barley and wheat starch granules. *Starch/Stärke* 24: 336-341.
- Bertoft, E. (1989). Partial characterization of amylopectin alpha-dextrins. *Carbohydrate Research* 189:181-193.
- Bertoft, E. (2004). On the nature of categories of chains in amylopectin and their connection to the super helix model. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 57(2):211-224.
- Bertoft, E. (2007a). Composition of clusters and their arrangement in potao amylopectin. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 68(3):433-446.
- Bertoft, E. (2007b). Composition of building blocks in clusters from potato amylopectin. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 70(1):123-136.
- Bertoft, E., Källman, A., Koch, K., Andersson, R. & Åman, P. (2011). The cluster structure of barley amylopectins of different genetic backgrounds. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 49(4):441-453.
- Bertoft, E., Koch, K. & Åman, P. (2012a). Building block organisation of clusters in amylopectin from different structural types. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 50(5):1212-1223.
- Bertoft, E., Koch, K. & Åman, P. (2012b). Structure of building blocks in amylopectins. *Carbohydrate Research* 361:105-113.
- Bertoft, E., Laohaphatanaleart, K., Piyachomkwan, K. & Sriroth, K. (2010). The fine structure of cassava starch amylopectin. Part 2: Building block structure of clusters. *International Journal* of Biological Macromolecules 47(3):325-335.

- Bertoft, E., Piyachomkwan, K., Chatakanonda, P. & Sriroth, K. (2008). Internal unit chain composition in amylopectins. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 74:527-543.
- Bird, R. & Hopkins, R.H. (1954). The action of some alpha-amylases on amylose. *Biochemical Journal* 56(1):86-99.
- Blennow, A., Hansen, M., Schulz, A., Jørgensen, K., Donald, A.M. & Sanderson, J. (2003). The molecular deposition of transgenically modified starch in the starch granule as imaged by functional microscopy. *Journal of Structural Biology* 143:229-241.
- Borén, M., Glaring, M.A., Ghebremedhin, H., Olsson, H., Blennow, A. & Jansson, C. (2008). Molecular and physicochemical characterization of the high-amylose barley mutant Amo1. *Journal of Cereal Science* 47:79-89.
- Buléon, A., Colonna, P., Planchot, V. & Ball, S. (1998). Starch granules: structure and biosynthesis. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 23:85-112.
- Burton, R.A., Jenner, H., Carrangis, L., Fahy, B., Fincher, G.B., Hylton, C., Laurie, D.A., Parker, M., Waite, D., van Wegen, S., Verhoeven, T. & Denyer, K. (2002). Starch granule initiation and growth are altered in barley mutants that lack isoamylase activity. *The Plant Journal* 31(1):97-112.
- Carciofi, M., Blennow, A., Jensen, S.L., Shaik, S.S., Henriksen, A., Buléon, A., Holm, P.B. & Hebelstrup, K.H. (2012). Concerted suppression of all starch branching enzyme genes in barley produces amylose-only starch granules. *BMC Plant Biology* 12:223.
- Chrastil, J. (1987). Improved colorimetric determination of amylose in starches or flours. *Carbohydrate Research* 159:154-158.
- Cozzolino, D., Roumeliotis, S. & Eglinton, J. (2013). Relationships between starch pasting properties, free fatty acids and amylose content in barley. *Food Research International* 51(2):444-449.
- DuBois, M., Gilles K.A., Hamilton J.K., Rebers P.A. & Smith F. (1956). Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances. *American Chemical Society* 28(3):350-356.
- Dupont, F.M. & Altenbach, S.B. (2003). Molecular and biochemical impacts of environmental factors on wheat grain development and protein synthesis. *Journal of Cereal Science* 38:133-146.
- Eliasson, A.-C. & Gudmundsson, M. (2006). Starch: Physicochemical and functional aspects. In: Eliasson, A.-C. *Carbohydrates in Food* (2<sup>nd</sup> Edition). Boca Raton, FL, USA: CRC Press, 391-469.
- FAO. (2009). Barley Malt Beer. Rome: FAO (agribusiness handbook) [Broschyr].
- FAOSTAT (2013). http://faostat3.fao.org/faostat-gateway/go/to/download/Q/QC/E [2013-08-30].
- Fast Seefeldt, H., Blennow, A., Møller Jespersen, B., Wollenweber, B. & Balling Engelsen, S. (2009). Accumulation of mixed linkage (1 → 3) (1 → 4)-β-D-glucan during grain filling in barley: A vibrational spectroscopy study. *Journal of Cereal Science* 49:24-31.
- Fredriksson, H., Silverio, J., Andersson, R., Eliasson, A.-C. & Åman, P. (1998). The influence of amylose and amylopectin characteristics on gelatinization and retrogradation properties of different starches. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 35(3-4):119-134.
- Gallant, D.J., Bouchet, B. & Baldwin, P.M. (1997). Microscopy of starch: evidence of a new level of granule organization. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 32:177-191.

- Genkina, N.K., Wikman, J., Bertoft, E. & Yuryev, V.P. (2007). Effects of structural imperfection on gelatinization characteristics of amylopectin starches with A- and B-type crystallinity. *Biomacromolecules* 8:2329-2335.
- Hanashiro, I., Tagawa, M.,Shibahara, S., Iwata, K. & Takeda, Y. (2002). Examination of molarbased distribution of A, B and C chains of amylopectin by fluorescent labeling with 2aminopyridine. *Carbohydrate Research* 337:1211-1215.
- Hanashiro, I. & Takeda, Y. (1998). Examination of number-average degree of polymerization and molar-based distribution of amylose by fluorescent labeling with 2-aminopyridine. *Carbohydrate Research* 306(3):421-426.
- Hizukuri, S. (1986). Polymodal distribution of the chain lengths of amylopectins, and its significance. *Carbohydrate Research* 147(2):342-347.
- Imberty, A., Buléon, A., Tran, V. & Pérez, S. (1991). Recent advances in knowledge of starch structure. *Starch/Stärke* 43(10):375-384.
- Jane, J.L. & Shen, J.J., Internal structure of the potato starch granule revealed by chemical gelatinization. *Carbohydrate Research* 247:279-290.
- Jane, J.L., Chen Y.Y., Lee, L.F., McPherson, A.E., Wong, K.S., Radosavljevic, M. & Kasemsuwan, T. (1999). Effects of amylopectin branch chain length and amylose content on the gelatinization and pasting properties of starch. *Cereal Chemistry* 76(5):629-637.
- Jenkins, P.J., Cameron, R.E. & Donald, A.M. (1993). A universal feature in the structure of starch granules from different botanical sources. *Starch/Stärke* 45(12):417-420.
- Jenkins, P.J. & Donald, A.M. (1995). The influence of amylose on starch granule structure. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 17(6):315-320.
- Kainuma, K. & French D. (1969). Action of pancreatic amylase on starch oligosaccharides containing single glucose side chains. *FEBS Letters* 5(4):257-261.
- Kalinga, D.N. (2013). Evolution of the molecular structure of starch in developing wheat grain. Diss. Guelph: University of Guelph.
- Kasemsuwan, T. & Jane, J.L. (1994). Location of amylose in normal starch granules. II Location of phosphodiester cross-linking revealed by phosphorous-31 nuclear magnetic resonance. *Cereal Chemistry* 71:282-287.
- Kim, H.-S. & Huber, K.C. (2010). Physicochemical properties and amylopectin fine structures of A- and B-type granules of waxy and normal soft wheat starch. *Journal of Cereal Science* 51(3):256-264.
- Klucinec, J.D.K. & Thompson, D.B. (1998). Fractionation of high-amylose maize starches by differential alcohol precipitaion and chromatography of the fractions. *Cereal Chemistry* 75(6):887-896.
- Kong, X., Bertoft, E., Bao, J. & Corke, H. (2008). Molecular structure of amylopectin from amaranth starch and its effect on physicochemical properties. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 43:377-382.
- Kong, X., Corke, H. & Bertoft, E. (2009). Fine structure characterization of amylopectins from grain amaranth starch. *Carbohydrate Research* 344:1701-1708.
- Laohaphatanaleart, K., Piyachomkwan, K., Sriroth, K. & Bertoft, E. (2010). The fine structure of cassava starch amylopectin Part 1:Organization of clusters. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 47(3):317-324.

- Li, Z., Li, D., Du, X., Wang, H., Larroque, O., Jenkins, C.L.D., Jobling, S.A. & Morell, M.K. (2011). The barley amo1 locus is tightly linked to the starch synthase IIIa gene and negatively regulates expression of granule-bound starch synthetic genes. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 62(14):5217-5231.
- MacGregor, A.W., LaBerge, D.E. & Meredith, W.O.S. (1971). Changes in barley kernels during growth and maturation. *Cereal Chemistry* 48(3):255-269.
- Matsuki, J., Yasui, T., Sasaki, T., Fujita, M. & Kitamura, Y. (2008). Effects of the barley amo1 and wax genes on starch structure and physicochemical properties. *Starch/Stärke* 60:279-285.
- McDonald A.M.L & Stark J.R. (1988). A critical examination of procedures for the isolation of barley starch. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing* 94:125-132.
- Mcdonald, A.M.L., Stark J.R., Morrison W.R. & Ellis R.P. (1991). The composition of starch granules from developing barley genotypes. *Journal of Cereal Science* 13(1):93-112.
- Merritt, N.R. & Walker, J.T. (1969). Development of starch and other components in normal and high amylose barley. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing* 75(2):156-164.
- Morrison, W.R. & Gadan, H. (1987). The amylose and lipid contents of starch granules in developing wheat endosperm. *Journal of Cereal Science* 5:263-275.
- Morrison, W.R. & Laignelet, B. (1983). An improved colorimetric procedure for determining apparent and total amylose in cereal and other starches. *Journal of Cereal Science* 1(1):9-20.
- Morrison, W.R., Scott, D.C. & Karkalas, J. (1986). Variation in the composition and physical properties of barley starches. *Starch/Stärke* 38(11):374-379.
- Morrison, W.R., Milligan, T.P. & Azudin, M.N. (1984). A relationship between the amylose and lipid contents of starches from diploid cereals. *Journal of Cereal Science* 2(4):257-271.
- Mutisya, J., Sathish, P., Sun, C., Andersson, L., Ahlansberg, S., Baguma, Y., Palmqvist, S., Odhiambo, B., Åman, P. & Jansson, C. (2003). Starch branching enzymes in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) and barley (Hordeum vulgare): Comparative analyses of enzyme structure and gene expression. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 160(8):921-930.
- Oscarsson, M., Andersson, R., Åman, P., Olofsson, S. & Jonsson, A. (1998). Effects of cultivar, nitrogen fertilization rate and environment on yield and grain quality of barley. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 78:359-366.
- Patron, N.J., Smith, A.M., Fahy, B.F., Hylton, C.M., Naldrett, M.J., Rossnagel, B.G. & Denyer, K. (2002). The altered pattern of amylose accumulation in the endosperm of low-amylose barley cultivars is attributable to a single mutant allele of granule-bound starch synthase I with a deletion in the 5'-non-coding region. *Plant Physiology* 130:190-198.
- Peat, S., Whelan, W.J. & Thomas, G.J. (1952). Evidence of multiple branching in waxy maize starch. *Journal of the Chemical Society* Nov: 4546-4548.
- Peng, M., Gao, M., Abdel-Aal, E.-S.M., Hucl, P. & Chibbar, R.N. (1999). Separation of A- and B-type granules in wheat endosperm. *Cereal Chemistry* 76(3):375-379.
- Radchuk, V.V., Borisjuk, L., Sreenivasulu, N., Merx, K., Mock, H.-P., Rolletschek, H., Wobus, U. & Weschke, W. (2009). Spatiotemporal profiling of starch biosynthesis and degradation in the developing barley grain. *Plant Physiology* 150:190-204.
- Robyt, J. & French, D. (1963). Action pattern and specificity of an amylase from Bacillus Subtilis. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 100(3):451-467.

- Salman, H., Blazek, J., Lopez-Rubio, A., Gilbert, E.P., Hanley, T. & Copeland, L. (2009). Structure-function relationships in A and B granules from wheat starches of similar amylose content. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 75:420-427.
- Schulman, A.H., Tester, R.F., Ahokas, H. & Morrison, W.R. (1994). The effect of the shrunken endosperm mutation shx on starch granule development in barley seeds. *Journal of Cereal Science* 19:49-55.
- Singh, S., Singh, N., Isono, N. & Noda, T. (2010). Relationship of granule size distribution and amylopectin structure with pasting, thermal, and retrogradation properties in wheat starch. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 58:1180-1188.
- Sreenivasulu, N., Altschmied, L., Radchuk, V., Gubatz, S., Wobus, U. & Weschke, W. (2004). Transcript profiles and deduced changes of metabolic pathways in maternal and filial tissues of developing barley grains. *The Plant Journal* 37:539-553.
- Takeda, Y., Takeda, C., Mizukami, H. & Hanashiro, H. (1999). Structures of large, medium and small starch granules of barley grain. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 38:109-114.
- Tang, H., Mitsunaga, T. & Kawamura, Y. (2006). Molecular arrangement in blocklets and starch granule architecture. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 63:555-560.
- Tang, H., Watanabe, K. & Mitsunaga, T. (2002). Structure and functionality of large, medium and small granule starches in normal and waxy barley endosperms. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 49:217-224.
- Tetlow, I.J. (2011). Starch biosynthesis in developing seeds. Seed Science Research 21:5-32.
- Vamadevan, V., Bertoft, E. & Seetharaman, K. (2013). On the importance of organization of glucan chains on thermal properties of starch. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 92:1653-1659.
- Vasanthan, T. & Hoover, R. (1992). Effect of defattinng on starch structure and physicochemical properties. *Food Chemistry* 45:337-347.
- Waduge, R.N. (2012). Morphology and Molecular Organization of Developing Wheat Starch Granules. Diss. Guelph: University of Guelph.
- Waigh, T.A., Kato, K.L., Donald, A.M., Gidley, M.J., Clarke, C.J. & Riekel, C. (2000). Sidechain liquid-crystalline model for starch. *Starch/Stärke* 52:450-460.
- Walker, G.J. & Whelan, W.J. (1960). Mechanism of carbohydrase action .8. Structures of the muscle-phosphorylase limit dextrins of glycogen and amylopectin. *Biochemical Journal* 76:264-268.
- Wei, C.-X., Zhang, J., Zhou, W.-D., Chen, Y.-F. & Xu, R.-G. (2008). Development of small starch granule in barley endosperm. Acta Sgronomica Sinica 34(10):1788-1796.
- Weschke, W., Panitz, R., Sauer, N., Wang, Q., Neubohn, B., Weber, H. & Wobus, U. (2000). Sucrose transport into barley seeds: molecular characterization of two transporters and implications for seed development and starch accumulation. *The Plant Journal* 21(5):455-467.
- Williams, M.J. & Duffus, C.M. (1977). Separation and some properties of large and small amyloplasts throughout development in barley endosperm. *Plant Physiology* 59:189-192.
- Yamaguchi, M., Kainuma, K. & French, D. (1979). Electron microscopic observations of waxy maize starch. *Journal of Ultrastructure Reasearch* 69:249-261.
- Zhou, X., Wang, R., Yoo, S.-H. & Lim, S.-T. (2011). Water effect on the interaction between amylose and amylopectin during retrogradation. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 86:1671-1674.

- Zhu, F., Corke, H., Åman, P. & Bertoft, E. (2011). Structures of building blocks in clusters of sweetpotato amylopectin. *Carbohydrate Research* 346:2913-2925.
- Zhu, L.-J., Liu, Q.-Q., Sang, Y., Gu, M.-H. & Shi Y.-C. (2010). Underlying reasons for waxy rice flours having different pasting properties. *Food Chemistry* 120:94-100.

## Acknowledgements

I gratefully acknowledge the support given to me by the thematic research programme BarleyFunFood at the Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences. Travel grants awarded by SLU, the Food in Focus research school, and Naturvetenskapliga föreningen at Stockholm University allowed me to present my research at international conferences and to perform part of the experimental work at the University of Guelph in Canada, for which I am very grateful.

I would also like to thank my three supervisors, Roger Andersson, Kristine Koch and Eric Bertoft, for their guidance, patience and encouragement. Every meeting with you was fun and was filled with worthwhile discussions, and by the end of every meeting I felt more confident and with new energy. Thank you for always making time to answer questions and discuss results. I cannot imagine a better team of supervisors than you. Thank you for your inspiration and for believing in me.

Thanks to Chuanxin Sun, for all the help with the barley plants in the phytotron and all colleagues at the Department of Food Science who made commuting from Stockholm worth the effort. Special thanks to Per Åman for valuable input; Gunnel Fransson and Janicka Nilsson for taking care of all of my last minute orders, all help in the lab and great company at lunch; Margaretha Wijkström and Carina Nylander for always being helpful, organised and patient, and of course for the great company at lunch; past and present PhD students for all the fun social activities, meetings and study trips. Special thanks to those with whom I shared an office; Matti, Rikard, Rehman, Isabella, Susanne and Huaxing, I had a lot of fun with you. And thank you Carolin and Liane for the fun nights in Lausanne and Stockholm, we should do it again sometime! Thanks to Åsa Lagerstedt Norström for your friendship and inspiration. My two students, Jenny Eriksson and Åsa Martén, you did a great job and I learned a lot from supervising you during your degree projects.

Thanks to Koushik Seetharaman for inviting me to the University of Guelph in Canada and for your input on my research and advice in life; all fellow students in Guelph who made me feel at home, especially Danusha, George, Varathan, Renuka, Komeine, Fan and all other students in the starch group; and special thanks to Hongkai for always being helpful in the lab, and all the people in the basketball team, I had a lot of fun, although I never scored a single point...

My family; my parents Eva and Rolf, my brother Magnus and my sister Malin and her husband Leo, thank you for all of your endless love and support during the ups and downs. For always being there for me when I needed you, and for always believing in me. And little Elin, for being the most adorable baby in the world. Daniel Sandberg, my lovely boyfriend, I don't know how I would have survived this summer without you. Thank you for all you love and support, and for inspiring me. Thank you to all my friends for believing in me, for all the fun sport activities and workouts, all the parties, and other social events and all the road trips and holidays.